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ED CARNES, Chief Judge: 
 In a case of life imitating art imitating life, 
Maynard Kenneth Godwin was inspired by the fic-
tional motorcycle gang in Sons of Anarchy, itself 
modeled on the real life Hells Angels, to form his 
own band of brigands called the Guardians. Under his 
leadership, the Guardians terrorized the citizens of 
Jacksonville, Florida, through a steady onslaught of 
home invasion robberies, armed bank robberies, and 
other crimes. Although not a full-fledged, card-
carrying member of the Guardians, Eric Steven Ellis 
personally participated in at least two of those crimes, 
received a share of the proceeds from a third, and 
otherwise associated with several of the gang's mem-
bers. 
 

Following a joint trial before two separate juries, 
one for each codefendant, Godwin and Ellis were 
convicted under the Racketeer Influenced and Cor-
rupt Organizations Act (RICO) for racketeering, in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), and conspiracy to 
commit racketeering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1962(d). They challenge their respective convictions. 
Godwin contends that the district court erred in ex-
cusing two members of his jury, one before the trial 
started and the other during deliberations, while Ellis 

challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support 
his racketeering and conspiracy convictions. 
 

I. 
As often seems to be the protocol with criminal 

gangs, the members of the Guardians were given 
monikers befitting their roles. Godwin bestowed on 
himself the apt title “Boss.” Bill Harper and Billy 
Hesson were the Lieutenants; Andrew Wilkie was the 
Enforcer; Frank Godwin was the Road Captain; and 
Brock Skov, owing to his computer savvy, was called 
Tech.FN1 The members wore dog tags inscribed with 
the organization's name, their nicknames, and their 
rank; some sported “Guardian” tattoos; and several 
rode motorcycles, used steroids, and lifted weights. 
Although Godwin did not formally name and offi-
cially organize the group into the Guardians until 
early to mid–2009,FN2 its members were involved in 
criminal activities together before then. 
 

Godwin sold various drugs, principally cocaine 
and oxycodone, and fenced stolen merchandise from 
his home and later from his store, “Guardians of 
Jacksonville,” which he opened in 2010. At Skov's 
residence, Godwin stockpiled a cache of body armor 
and firearms for Guardian members and associates to 
use with his permission. Jonathan Hart and David 
Hicks were two such associates; Eric Ellis was a 
third. Like Guardian members, Ellis used steroids, 
lifted weights, and spent time at Godwin's house. He 
knew that the Guardians were a gang that did “goon 
stuff,” were “heavy into drugs,” and were led by 
Godwin. On one occasion in June or July of 2010, 
Ellis, Wilkie, and Harper convened at Godwin's 
house bedecked in black and carrying backpacks. 
Godwin called Skov at home to tell him that he was 
sending the three men “over there to get something 
from you,” and then turned and asked the men, “Do 
y'all want the one with the extended clip on it?,” ob-
viously referring to a firearm. 
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Stockpiling guns, dealing drugs, and peddling 

purloined products were not the most serious of the 
Guardians' illicit endeavors. In a span of only fifteen 
months, beginning in May 2009, Guardian members 
and associates committed a slew of violent crimes, 
including four armed home invasion robberies, two 
armed bank robberies, one attempted bank robbery, 
and a savage beating. On May 21, 2009, Ellis, 
Harper, and Wilkie, acting at Godwin's command, 
thrashed Dillon Burkhalter to within an inch of his 
life, repeatedly hitting and kicking him in the face 
until he began choking on his own blood. Burkhalter, 
who rented a mobile home located next to one owned 
by Godwin, had been “messing up [his] trailer,” 
owed back rent to the owner of the trailer park, and 
apparently owed money to Godwin as well. When he 
was transported to the hospital with multiple facial 
fractures and cranial bleeding, Burkhalter was barely 
breathing, barely conscious, and utterly unresponsive, 
eventually lapsing into a coma for a period of three 
weeks. 
 

Less than three weeks later, on June 12, 2009, 
Ellis, Hicks, and Wilkie broke into the home of Brigg 
and Lita Hart (no relation to Jonathan Hart) under 
cover of night. They roused Lita Hart from her bed at 
gunpoint, forced her to open the bedroom safe, and 
then absconded with $328,000 in cash, $750,000 in 
jewelry, and a veritable trove of firearms, including 
an H & K shotgun, two matching 9mm Mauser pis-
tols, and a 9mm Ruger pistol with an extended maga-
zine. The jewelry taken from the Harts' home in-
cluded two black diamond rings, a diamond-studded 
gold necklace, several expensive watches, and as-
sorted diamond bracelets. 
 

Ellis received as his share of the loot a third of 
the $328,000 in cash, the diamond-studded gold 
necklace, and two expensive watches. And he stored 
five of the stolen firearms, including the matching 
Mauser pistols, at his apartment. Several of the other 
stolen firearms were added to the Guardians' arsenal 

at Skov's home. Ellis later gave Lita Hart's gold neck-
lace to his brother, who broke it apart, put one of the 
two diamonds into his wife's wedding ring, and re-
turned the other diamond to Ellis. Ellis sold the re-
maining diamond to a jewelry store for a total of 
$9,000, paid out over five separate checks, and kept 
the proceeds for himself. Wilkie and Hicks also sold 
some of the Harts' jewelry to Ron Gordon at San Juan 
Precious Metals, who was affectionately and allitera-
tively known to the Guardians as the “gold guy.” 
 

On September 1, 2009, Hart, Hicks, and Wilkie 
unsuccessfully attempted to rob an EverBank branch, 
a feat that Hart and Hicks successfully completed the 
following month. Also in October 2009, Hart and 
Hicks committed a second home invasion robbery 
using a gun stolen from the June 2009 home inva-
sion, while Wilkie and Hicks robbed a Wachovia 
Bank at gunpoint. On November 30, 2009, Wilkie 
and Hart committed a third home invasion, the rob-
bery of the residence of Vicki and Harold Shafer, 
again using a firearm stolen during the June 2009 
home invasion. Wilkie and Hart made off with over 
$400,000 in cash and jewelry, as well as a 2004 
Lexus. After the robbery, Wilkie called Ellis and told 
him to come over to Hart's house, where Wilkie and 
Hart gave him $2,000 in stolen cash. Wilkie advised 
Hart that Ellis could double that money by selling 
cocaine. And in August 2010, Wilkie and Harper 
committed one last home invasion robbery, this one 
of Robert and Larita Holland, the proceeds of which 
they shared with Godwin. In all but one of the six 
robberies committed by Guardian members and asso-
ciates between June 2009 and August 2010, the per-
petrators wore dark clothes, masks, and gloves. 
 

Ellis helped Wilkie organize some of the home 
invasion robberies, including those committed by 
Harper and Hicks. He also assisted Guardian mem-
bers and associates in other ways. The day after the 
November 2009 robbery, Hart summoned Ellis, 
Wilkie, and Hicks to his home to determine who had 
taken his share of the proceeds from that crime. Ellis 
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arrived with an “Uzi looking pistol,” and he vigi-
lantly stood holding it the entire time. Although it 
was never determined who had filched the stolen 
proceeds, Hart believed that it was Hicks and, from 
that day forward, the Guardians severed all commu-
nication with him. 
 

Around the same time period, Wilkie battered his 
girlfriend, Chelsea Folkestad, for asking too many 
questions about the Guardians. Folkestad had over-
heard Wilkie and Ellis discuss doing “jobs,” meaning 
home invasions and bank robberies. Wilkie called 
Ellis to help him with Folkestad and when Ellis ar-
rived, he laid a bed sheet down on the bedroom floor 
and told Wilkie that he wanted to talk to Folkestad in 
the bathroom, leading Folkestad to believe that he 
was going to kill her and then wrap her body in the 
sheet. Ellis escorted Folkestad into the bathroom, 
where he issued a somewhat veiled threat: “If you 
don't say anything or don't bring this up or don't ask 
any more questions and just leave this alone ... it will 
be fine. Otherwise, you already know.” 
 

For a two-and-a-half-month stretch from Febru-
ary 21 to May 8, 2010, Wilkie was in jail for, of all 
things, driving with a suspended license. In recorded 
jail calls, Wilkie, Godwin, Hart, and Harper dis-
cussed ways to get money to pay Wilkie's bail and 
pay his attorney, including by selling the H & K 
shotgun stolen during the June 2009 home invasion 
and by having the other men commit yet another 
home invasion robbery. Ellis' name frequently came 
up during those conversations. To help raise bail 
money for Wilkie, Ellis sold two of the expensive 
watches stolen during the June 2009 robbery to the 
Guardians' “gold guy” at San Juan Precious Metals. 
 

Life as usual began to unravel for the Guardians 
after Wilkie's cousin, Christopher Stevens, contacted 
the police in the final months of 2009 and agreed to 
act as a paid informant for the Federal Bureau of In-
vestigation. Beginning on February 19, 2010, and 
stretching through October of that year, Stevens en-

gaged in a series of recorded drug buys of anabolic 
steroids, cocaine, and oxycodone from Wilkie, 
Harper, and Godwin. At trial, Stevens testified that 
Ellis was the source of the steroids. Folkestad cor-
roborated that testimony, stating that Ellis supplied 
Wilkie with some of the drugs that he sold to others. 
During two of the recorded conversations, Stevens 
asked Wilkie about obtaining a “throwaway” gun that 
he ostensibly intended to use to kill a coworker. 
Wilkie eventually told Stevens that he could buy a 
throwaway gun from Ellis. In another recorded con-
versation from September 2010, which took place at 
Godwin's store, Wilkie informed Stevens that he and 
Ellis had some robberies “lined up,” robberies that 
could not “come back on [Godwin].” 
 

In October 2010, the FBI began intercepting 
calls made over Godwin's phone, which Wilkie occa-
sionally used. On October 22, 2010, Wilkie asked 
Ellis to meet him at Godwin's trailer with “the two 
girls that ... we call a nine,” which was code for the 
matching 9mm Mauser pistols stolen during the June 
2009 home invasion. Ellis replied that the majority of 
his “gear” was at Godwin's house and that he would 
meet Wilkie there later that night. When Ellis arrived 
at Godwin's place, Wilkie told him that “there was 
some drug dealer or some kid that was sitting on 
money that he wanted to go roll.” The two did not, 
however, go through with Wilkie's plan. During a 
recorded phone conversation that took place three 
days later, on October 25, 2010, Ellis asked Wilkie 
what was happening with “the kid we were sup-
pose[d] to go visit.” The two agreed to “get that shit 
underway,” and Wilkie also mentioned doing a “one 
time lick,” meaning a robbery, on Black Friday be-
cause of the amount of money that would be circulat-
ing that day. Ellis replied that they could “put [their] 
heads together” and “do a hand full of things.” 
 

In another series of recorded phone calls that 
were made in early November, Godwin and Wilkie 
discussed a planned invasion of a home occupied by 
an elderly couple who kept nearly $300,000 in their 
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house. To prevent that crime from happening, law 
enforcement officials arrested Godwin and Wilkie on 
November 12, 2010. Following those arrests, officers 
searched the homes of several Guardian members and 
associates. In Godwin's home, they found steroids, 
drug paraphernalia, two bags of white powder, body 
armor, ammunition, a dog tag inscribed with the 
word “Guardian,” Wilkie's identification card, and a 
business card from the Guardians' “gold guy.” During 
an earlier search of Godwin's trash, FBI agents had 
also found various documents and credit cards be-
longing to Larita and Robert Holland, the victims of 
the August 2010 robbery committed by Wilkie and 
Harper. 
 

On a desk in Ellis' apartment, officers found the 
matching 9mm Mauser pistols from the June 2009 
home invasion, both loaded, lying beside a calendar 
that prominently marked the day after Thanksgiving 
as “Negro Friday.” Elsewhere in the apartment were 
steroid bottles and syringes, as well as a duffel bag 
containing several other guns taken during the June 
2009 home invasion, a toolbox, ammunition, and a 
pair of gloves. And in Skov's apartment, officers 
found vials of steroids, boxes of ammunition, seven 
bullet-proof vests, and fifteen firearms, some of 
which had also been stolen during that same June 
2009 home invasion. 
 

II. 
Godwin and Ellis, along with Wilkie, Harper, 

Hart, and Skov, were indicted by a federal grand jury 
on charges of racketeering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1962(c) (Count 1), and conspiracy to commit rack-
eteering, in violation of § 1962(d) (Count 2).FN3 For 
the substantive RICO charge alleged in Count 1, the 
second superseding indictment, which is the one that 
carried the case to trial, identified twenty-four predi-
cate racketeering acts, including: extortion, home 
invasion robbery, attempted bank robbery, armed 
bank robbery, conspiracy to commit armed robbery, 
money laundering, transferring stolen goods, and 
various drug trafficking offenses. Ellis was specifi-

cally charged with four of those predicate acts: (1) 
extortion of Dillon Burkhalter; (2) the June 2009 
home invasion robbery of the Harts; (3) promotional 
money laundering in the form of selling one of Lita 
Hart's diamonds; and (4) conspiring with Wilkie in 
October 2010 to commit armed robbery. Wilkie, 
Harper, Hart, and Skov pleaded guilty to the racket-
eering charges against them; Godwin and Ellis did 
not.FN4 

* * * * 
After four hours of deliberations, the jury found 

Godwin guilty on Counts 1 and 2—the substantive 
and conspiracy RICO counts. Ellis' jury also returned 
a guilty verdict on those two counts, specifically find-
ing that he had committed three of the four predicate 
acts alleged in the indictment: the June 2009 home 
invasion robbery, money laundering, and conspiracy 
to commit armed robbery. Ellis again renewed his 
motion for a judgment of acquittal; the court again 
denied it. He was later sentenced to 20 years impris-
onment, while Godwin received a sentence of 30 
years. 
 

* * * * 
IV. 

Ellis challenges the sufficiency of the evidence 
to support his convictions on Count 1 for racketeer-
ing and on Count 2 for conspiracy to commit racket-
eering. With respect to both counts, Ellis makes three 
broad, largely overlapping arguments: (1) that there 
was no evidence that he was associated with the 
Guardians, participated in the gang's affairs, or con-
ferred any income or other benefit on the enterprise 
through his criminal acts; (2) that the three predicate 
acts found by the jury—the June 2009 home invasion 
robbery, money laundering, and conspiracy to com-
mit armed robbery—were unrelated to the Guardians; 
and (3) that the government failed to prove that he 
committed two of those three predicate acts, money 
laundering and conspiracy to commit armed robbery. 
He also contends that the evidence adduced at trial 
established multiple conspiracies, not the single 
RICO conspiracy alleged in the indictment, because 
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there was no “common goal to participate in [the] 
enterprise,” “the nature of the underlying scheme was 
unorganized and sporadic,” and “the members of the 
alleged conspiracy engaged in unconnected and inde-
pendent criminal activity.” FN5 
 

A. 
We review de novo the sufficiency of the evi-

dence to support a conviction, “viewing the evidence 
in the light most favorable to the verdict and drawing 
all reasonable inferences and credibility choices in 
the verdict's favor.” United States v. Pacchioli, 718 
F.3d 1294, 1299 (11th Cir.2013). A guilty verdict 
“cannot be overturned if any reasonable construction 
of the evidence would have allowed the jury to find 
the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” 
United States v. Rodriguez, 732 F.3d 1299, 1303 
(11th Cir.2013). Because a jury is free to choose 
among the reasonable constructions of the evidence, 
“it is not necessary that the evidence exclude every 
reasonable hypothesis of innocence or be wholly in-
consistent with every conclusion except that of guilt.” 
United States v. Williams, 390 F.3d 1319, 1323–24 
(11th Cir.2004) (brackets and quotation marks omit-
ted). 
 

B. 
RICO makes it unlawful “for any person em-

ployed by or associated with any enterprise engaged 
in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or for-
eign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or 
indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs 
through a pattern of racketeering activity....” 18 
U.S.C. § 1962(c). It also makes it unlawful for “any 
person to conspire” to commit that offense. Id. § 
1962(d). To establish a substantive RICO crime, the 
government must prove: (1) the existence of an en-
terprise; (2) that the enterprise affected interstate 
commerce; (3) that the defendant was employed by 
or associated with the enterprise; (4) that the defen-
dant participated, either directly or indirectly, in the 
enterprise's affairs; and (5) that the defendant partici-
pated through a pattern of racketeering activity. 

United States v. Browne, 505 F.3d 1229, 1257 (11th 
Cir.2007). Ellis' arguments focus on the third, fourth, 
and fifth elements of a § 1962(c) offense. 
 

The third and fourth elements of a RICO viola-
tion—that the defendant was associated with the en-
terprise and that he participated in its affairs—
substantially overlap. See United States v. Watch-
maker, 761 F.2d 1459, 1476 (11th Cir.1985) (“The 
substantive proscriptions of the RICO statute apply to 
insiders and outsiders—those merely ‘associated 
with’ an enterprise—who participate directly and 
indirectly in the enterprise's affairs....”) (quotation 
marks and second emphasis omitted). Under the gov-
erning “operation or management test,” the defendant 
must have played “some part in directing [the enter-
prise's] affairs,” which includes implementing or 
making decisions related to its affairs. United States 
v. Starrett, 55 F.3d 1525, 1542, 1548 (11th Cir.1995). 
Because “[t]he RICO net is woven tightly to trap 
even the smallest fish, those peripherally involved 
with the enterprise,” Watchmaker, 761 F.2d at 1476 
(quotation marks omitted), even lower-rung partici-
pants or virtual outsiders may, by virtue of their con-
duct, find themselves ensnared. See Starrett, 55 F.3d 
at 1542 (“[A]n enterprise is ‘operated’ also by lower-
rung participants in the enterprise who are under the 
direction of upper management, or by others associ-
ated with the enterprise who exert control over it.”) 
(quotation marks and alternations omitted); United 
States v. Castro, 89 F.3d 1443, 1452 n. 5 (11th 
Cir.1996) (rejecting the notion that § 1962(c) “re-
quires significant control over or within an enter-
prise,” and explaining that even “[o]utsiders may 
exert control over an enterprise's affairs”). 
 

The fifth element, a “pattern of racketeering ac-
tivity,” requires proof that the defendant committed 
at least two predicate racketeering acts that are re-
lated both to the enterprise and to each other. 
Browne, 505 F.3d at 1257.FN6 To be related to the 
enterprise, the predicate acts need not “affect the eve-
ryday operations of the enterprise” or even benefit 
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the enterprise. Starrett, 55 F.3d at 1542–43 & n. 10; 
see also United States v. Welch, 656 F.2d 1039, 1062 
(5th Cir. Unit A 1981) (rejecting a requirement that 
the predicate acts actually benefit the enterprise) FN7; 
United States v. Grubb, 11 F.3d 426, 439 (4th 
Cir.1993) (same). And predicate acts are related to 
each other if they “have the same or similar purposes, 
results, participants, victims, or methods of commis-
sion, or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing 
characteristics and are not isolated events.” Starrett, 
55 F.3d at 1543 (quotation marks omitted). 
 

C. 
When viewed in the light most favorable to the 

jury's verdict, the evidence was more than sufficient 
to allow a reasonable jury to find the third and fourth 
elements of a RICO violation—that Ellis was associ-
ated with the Guardians and played some part in di-
recting the enterprise's affairs. The evidence showed 
that Godwin officially formed the Guardians, which 
included Harper, Hesson, and Wilkie as members, 
and Hart and Hicks as associates, and that he did so 
sometime before the May 2009 beating of Dillon 
Burkhalter. FN8 Although Ellis was not a bona fide, 
dog-tag wearing member of the organization, he 
knew that the Guardians were a gang that did “goon 
stuff,” he knew that Godwin was their leader, he 
spent time at Godwin's house, and he helped Guard-
ian members and associates commit various crimes. 
Ellis personally participated in both the May 2009 
beating of Burkhalter, which was undertaken at 
Godwin's command, and the June 2009 home inva-
sion robbery, which was carried out with Wilkie and 
Hicks.FN9 He assisted Wilkie in organizing some of 
the other home invasion robberies perpetrated by 
Guardian members or associates, he received a share 
of the proceeds from the November 2009 robbery of 
Vicki and Harold Shafer, and later he was summoned 
by Guardian members to help determine who stole 
the remaining proceeds of that robbery. On a differ-
ent occasion, he was asked to help deal with Wilkie's 
girlfriend after she had started asking too many ques-
tions about the gang. In order to raise bail money for 

Wilkie, Ellis sold two expensive watches that had 
been stolen during the June 2009 home invasion. He 
had several conversations with Wilkie about commit-
ting additional robberies, including one on Black 
Friday. And he supplied Guardian members with 
some of the steroids that they sold to third parties. 
 

Then there is the fact that Ellis elected to take the 
stand and testify in his own defense, denying that he 
was associated with the Guardians. Having seen and 
heard him testify on the subject, the jury was free not 
only to discredit his testimony that he was not associ-
ated with the Guardians, but also to infer the oppo-
site, and to use that inference as substantive evidence 
that he was indeed an associate of the enterprise. 
United States v. Brown, 53 F.3d 312, 314 (11th 
Cir.1995) (“[A] statement by a defendant, if disbe-
lieved by the jury, may be considered as substantive 
evidence of the defendant's guilt.... [W]hen a defen-
dant chooses to testify, he runs the risk that if disbe-
lieved the jury might conclude the opposite of his 
testimony is true.”) (quotation marks omitted); ac-
cord United States v. Williams, 390 F.3d 1319, 1325 
(11th Cir.2004); United States v. Mejia, 82 F.3d 
1032, 1038 (11th Cir.1996); United States v. Eley, 
723 F.2d 1522, 1525 (11th Cir.1984); United States 
v. Contreras, 667 F.2d 976, 979–80 (11th Cir.1982). 
 

As for the fifth RICO element, a pattern of rack-
eteering activity, the government sufficiently proved 
that Ellis had committed at least two of the charged 
predicate acts and that those acts were related both to 
the Guardians and to each other. Ellis does not dis-
pute his involvement in the June 2009 home invasion 
robbery, which means that his substantive RICO 
conviction must stand if the evidence was sufficient 
to support at least one of the two remaining predicate 
acts found by the jury. See Browne, 505 F.3d at 1261 
(“Reversal of ... a conviction on a substantive RICO 
count is not required simply because some predicate 
acts are factually insufficient, as long as there remain 
at least two adequately proven acts.”). It was. The 
evidence showed that Ellis had, as alleged in the in-
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dictment, committed the predicate crime of promo-
tional money laundering by knowingly conducting a 
financial transaction involving the proceeds of 
“specified unlawful activity.” See 18 U.S.C. § 
1956(a)(1). The unlawful activity was the June 2009 
home invasion robbery. And the evidence showed 
that Ellis had done so “with the intent to promote the 
carrying on of [the] specified unlawful activity.” See 
id. § 1956(a)(1)(A)(i). 
 

Ellis maintains that there was no evidence that he 
sold Lita Hart's diamond to the jewelry store with the 
intent of promoting the unlawful objectives of the 
Guardians. The relevant question is whether he sold 
the diamond with the intent to promote the “specified 
unlawful activity,” which was the June 2009 home 
invasion robbery. And under our decision in United 
States v. Carcione, 272 F.3d 1297 (11th Cir.2001), 
the only answer that we can give to that question is 
“yes.” In Carcione, the defendant committed a home 
invasion robbery with several accomplices, made off 
with the victim's purse and jewelry, and later sold the 
victim's diamond ring. Id. at 1299. Based on those 
actions, the defendant was convicted of committing a 
Hobbs Act robbery, conspiring to commit such a rob-
bery, and promotional money laundering under § 
1956(a)(1)(A)(i).   Id. at 1298–99. We upheld the 
defendant's money laundering conviction, explaining 
that “[t]he sale of the diamond was simply one fur-
ther step in the ongoing Hobbs Act conspiracy” and 
that the “sale was designed to promote the Hobbs Act 
conspiracy by turning jewelry into cash—the ultimate 
objective of the conspiracy.” Id. at 1303. 
 

Carcione is, in all material respects, indistin-
guishable from this case. In both cases, the defendant 
planned and committed a home invasion robbery with 
cohorts and then sold some of the proceeds of that 
robbery for cash. Just as in Carcione, the sale of Lita 
Hart's diamond was “simply one further step” in the 
home invasion robbery and “was designed to promote 
[that robbery] by turning jewelry into cash—the ulti-
mate objective of the [home invasion robbery].” Id. 

Our decision in Carcione therefore forecloses Ellis' 
contention that the government failed to satisfy the 
promotional prong of § 1956(a)(1)(A)(i). And be-
cause a pattern of racketeering activity requires only 
two predicate acts, Ellis' substantive RICO conviction 
must stand regardless of whether there was sufficient 
evidence to support the third predicate act found by 
the jury, conspiracy to commit armed robbery. See 
Browne, 505 F.3d at 1261. 
 

To be sure, the two predicate acts of the June 
2009 home invasion robbery and the promotional 
money laundering must be related both to the 
Guardians and to each other in order to constitute the 
requisite pattern of racketeering activity. See id. at 
1257. That standard is met in this case because each 
of the predicate acts was “related to the activities of 
the enterprise” and had similar purposes, participants, 
victims, or methods of commission. See Starrett, 55 
F.3d at 1543 n. 10. The June 2009 home invasion 
robbery was one of a string of armed robberies com-
mitted by Guardian members and associates; Ellis 
split the proceeds of that robbery with a known 
Guardian member, Wilkie, and a known Guardian 
associate, Hicks; guns stolen during that robbery 
were added to the Guardians' communal cache of 
firearms and were used to commit two other home 
invasion robberies; and Ellis sold two expensive 
watches stolen during that robbery to help raise bail 
money for Wilkie. The money laundering offense 
involved a diamond taken during the June 2009 home 
invasion and helped to liquidate, if not conceal, some 
of the fruit of that robbery. 
 

The next issue is whether the government pre-
sented sufficient evidence to convict Ellis on Count 2 
for conspiring to violate RICO. See 18 U.S.C. § 
1962(d). To establish a RICO conspiracy, “the gov-
ernment must prove that the defendant[ ] objectively 
manifested, through words or actions, an agreement 
to participate in the conduct of the affairs of the en-
terprise through the commission of two or more 
predicate crimes.” Starrett, 55 F.3d at 1543 (quota-
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tion marks omitted). An agreement to participate in a 
RICO conspiracy may be shown in one of two ways: 
“(1) showing an agreement on the overall objective 
of the conspiracy, or (2) showing that the defendant 
agreed to commit personally two predicate acts, 
thereby agreeing to participate in a single objective.” 
Browne, 505 F.3d at 1264 (quotation marks omitted). 
The evidence, as we have already explained, was 
sufficient to show that Ellis committed at least two 
predicate acts related to the Guardians, which alone is 
enough to find that he agreed to participate in a “sin-
gle objective” RICO conspiracy. See id. at 1264; see 
also United States v. Kopituk, 690 F.2d 1289, 1323 
(11th Cir.1982) (“A defendant's participation in a 
conspiracy may be inferred from the acts of his which 
furthered the objectives of the conspiracy.”). 
 

Ellis' contention that his conviction on Count 2 
cannot stand because the evidence established multi-
ple conspiracies, instead of a single one, ignores the 
fact that the traditional “distinction between ‘single 
conspiracy’ and ‘multiple conspiracy’ ” is largely 
“irrelevant to RICO conspiracy charges.” United 
States v. Gonzalez, 921 F.2d 1530, 1540 (11th 
Cir.1991); see also Watchmaker, 761 F.2d at 1477 
(“Because of the variety of activities which may be 
undertaken by a criminal enterprise, there are few 
RICO trials in which such a claim could not be made, 
and it has been soundly rejected by the courts of this 
Circuit.”). “[I]n proving the existence of a single 
RICO conspiracy, the government does not need to 
prove that each conspirator agreed with every other 
conspirator, knew of his fellow conspirators, was 
aware of all of the details of the conspiracy, or con-
templated participating in the same related crime.” 
United States v. Castro, 89 F.3d 1443, 1451 (11th 
Cir.1996). A mere “[a]greement to participate in the 
conduct of the affairs of the enterprise through a pat-
tern of racketeering activity brings a defendant within 
the conspiracy regardless of the unrelatedness of the 
acts of other members of the conspiracy.” Gonzalez, 
921 F.2d at 1540. The jury was justified in conclud-
ing that Ellis “objectively manifested, through words 

or actions, an agreement to participate in the conduct 
of the affairs of the [Guardians] through the commis-
sion of two or more predicate crimes.” See Starrett, 
55 F.3d at 1543. 
 

V. 
For these reasons, we affirm Godwin's and Ellis' 

RICO convictions for racketeering, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 1962(c), and conspiracy to commit racket-
eering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). 
 

AFFIRMED. 
 

FN* Honorable Eugene E. Siler, Jr., United 
States Circuit Judge for the Sixth Circuit, 
sitting by designation. 

 
FN1. Because Ellis challenges the suffi-
ciency of the evidence to support his convic-
tions, the facts are presented in the light 
most favorable to the government, with all 
reasonable inferences and credibility deter-
minations drawn in favor of the guilty ver-
dict. See United States v. Broughton, 689 
F.3d 1260, 1276 (11th Cir.2012). 

 
FN2. The actual founding date of the 
Guardians was the subject of some dispute 
at trial. Hesson, for example, testified that 
the Guardians were named sometime during 
the summer of 2009; Harper maintained that 
the organization officially came into being 
on May 21, 2009; and Skov insisted that the 
group formed before May 2009. Given our 
responsibility to view the evidence in the 
light most favorable to the jury's verdict, we 
assume that the Guardians came into being 
before May 2009, as Skov testified at trial. 

 
FN3. Ellis and Godwin were each charged 
with one additional offense. Ellis was 
charged with committing a violent crime in 
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aid of racketeering—namely, threatening to 
kill or seriously injure Chelsea Folkestad to 
prevent her from reporting the Guardians' 
criminal activities to the police and for the 
purpose of maintaining his position within 
the organization. See 18 U.S.C. § 
1959(a)(4). Godwin was charged with pos-
sessing a firearm as a convicted felon. See 
id. § 922(g). The two were ultimately ac-
quitted on those charges. 

 
FN4. Wilkie was later sentenced to 420 
months in prison, Hart to 105 months, 
Harper to 100 months, and Skov to 41 
months. 

 
FN5. Submerged within his sufficiency ar-
guments, Ellis in a cursory fashion com-
plains about the district court's denial of his 
motion for a bill of particulars, the admis-
sion of “other individuals' irrelevant bad 
acts,” the accuracy of the factual bases of his 
codefendants' plea agreements, the prosecu-
tion's closing argument, and the joinder of 
his case with those of his codefendants. Be-
cause those claims are not designated as dis-
crete issues in his brief to this Court and are 
not supported by legal authority and sub-
stantive analysis, they are not properly be-
fore us. See Sapuppo v. Allstate Floridian 
Ins. Co., 739 F.3d 678, 681–82 (11th 
Cir.2014) (explaining that an appellant 
abandons a claim by failing to list it in his 
statement of the issues, failing to “devot[e] a 
discrete section of his argument” to it, rais-
ing it “in a perfunctory manner without sup-
porting arguments and authority,” or burying 
it within a larger argument) (quotation 
marks omitted). 

 
FN6. A pattern of racketeering activity also 
requires a showing of continuity, but Ellis 
does not advance any arguments concerning 

that requirement. See United States v. To, 
144 F.3d 737, 747 (11th Cir.1998) (“The 
fifth element contains two components: (1) 
the defendants' predicate acts must be re-
lated to the enterprise charged in the indict-
ment; and (2) the predicate acts must actu-
ally form a pattern, i.e., relate to each other 
and have continuity.”). 

 
FN7. In Bonner v. City of Prichard, 661 
F.2d 1206 (11th Cir.1981), this Court 
adopted as binding precedent decisions of 
the Fifth Circuit, including Unit A panel de-
cisions of that circuit, handed down before 
October 1, 1981. See United States v. Todd, 
108 F.3d 1329, 1333 n. 5 (11th Cir.1997). 

 
FN8. Skov testified at trial that he received 
his Guardian dog tag from Godwin before 
the May 2009 beating. 

 
FN9. Although the jury acquitted Ellis of the 
extortion of Burkhalter, that verdict does not 
preclude a finding that Burkhalter had been 
beaten and that Ellis participated in the beat-
ing because the jury could have acquitted 
him on another ground. The indictment al-
leged as a predicate act that Ellis had en-
gaged in extortion under Florida law, which 
requires a malicious threat of injury to an-
other person “with the intent thereby to ex-
tort money or any pecuniary advantage 
whatsoever, or with intent to compel the 
person so threatened ... to do any act or re-
frain from doing any act against his or her 
will....” Fla. Stat. Ann. § 836.05. In acquit-
ting Ellis of the predicate act of extortion, 
the jury could have found that he partici-
pated in the May 2009 beating, but that nei-
ther he nor his accomplices acted with the 
requisite intent to extort money from Burk-
halter. See Pacchioli, 718 F.3d at 1299 (ex-
plaining that we must “view[ ] the evidence 
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in the light most favorable to the verdict and 
draw [ ] all reasonable inferences ... in the 
verdict's favor”). 

 
 
 


